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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF DECATUR COUNTY 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
JUNE FAIRCLOTH, CHAD DOLLAR, KERI ) 
DOLLAR, JOHN T. REYNOLDS, JR.,   )  
MYRNA D. (PENNY) REYNOLDS, JOHN T.  ) 
REYNOLDS, III, DANA MARTIN, KRISTINA ) 
MARTIN, DAVID BARBER, DONNA  ) Civil Action No.________________ 
BARBER, LARRY FUNDERBURKE,   ) 
CAROLYN FUNDERBURKE, WALTER  ) 
(TED) LEE, LISA DASILVA, ELISE BOYD, )  
EPIC DESIGN BY JUNE FAIRCLOTH, LLC, ) 
L2 BAINBRIDGE LLC, and L2 BAINBRIDGE ) 
II LLC,      ) 
       ) 

Plaintiffs,      ) 
      )    

v.       )   
       ) 
SAFER HUMAN MEDICINE, INC.,  ) 
DECATUR COUNTY-BAINBRIDGE   ) 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT    ) 
AUTHORITY, and DEVELOPMENT   ) 
AUTHORITY OF BAINBRIDGE AND   ) 
DECATUR COUNTY,     ) 
       ) 
 Defendants.     ) 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiffs June Faircloth, Chad Dollar, Keri Dollar, John T. Reynolds, Jr., Myrna D. 

(Penny) Reynolds, John T. Reynolds, III, Dana Martin, Kristina Martin, David Barber, Donna 

Barber, Larry Funderburke, Carolyn Funderburke, Walter (Ted) Lee, Lisa DaSilva, Elise Boyd, 

Epic Design By June Faircloth, LLC, L2 Bainbridge LLC and L2 Bainbridge II LLC (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”) hereby file this Verified Complaint against Defendants Safer Human Medicine, Inc., 

Decatur County-Bainbridge Industrial Development Authority, and the Development Authority of 

Bainbridge and Decatur County (collectively, “Defendants”), respectfully showing the Court as 

follows: 

CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT
DECATUR COUNTY, GEORGIA

24CV00181
LAWTON C. HEARD, JR.
AUG 14, 2024 01:39 PM
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Parties, Venue and Jurisdiction 

1. 

 Plaintiff June Faircloth is an individual resident of Decatur County, Georgia, and is the 

owner of and resides at certain real property located at 214 Riverview Drive, Bainbridge, Decatur 

County, Georgia.  

2. 

 Plaintiffs Chad Dollar and Keri Dollar are individual residents of Decatur County, Georgia, 

and are the owners of and reside at certain real property located at 1565 Newton Road, Bainbridge, 

Decatur County, Georgia. 

3. 

 Plaintiffs John T. Reynolds, Jr, and Myrna D. (Penny) Reynolds are individual residents of 

Decatur County, Georgia and are the owners of and reside at certain real property located at 1555 

Newton Road, Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia.  

4. 

 Plaintiff John T. Reynolds, III, is an individual resident of Decatur County, Georgia and is 

the owner of and resides at certain real property located at 344 Flint River Heights Road, 

Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia. 

5. 

 Plaintiffs Dana and Kristina Martin are individual residents of Decatur County, Georgia 

and are the owner of and reside at certain real property located at 1001 E. College Street, 

Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia.  
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6. 

 Plaintiffs David Barber and Donna Barber are individual residents of Decatur County, 

Georgia and are the owners of and reside at certain real property located at 1817 Pondtown Road, 

Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia. 

7. 

 Plaintiffs Larry Funderburke and Carolyn Funderburke are individual residents of Decatur 

County, Georgia and are the owners of and reside at certain real property located at 206 Flint River 

Heights Road, Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia. 

8. 

 Plaintiff Walter (Ted) Lee is an individual resident of Decatur County, Georgia and is the 

owner of and resides at certain real property located at 1339 East River Road, Bainbridge, Decatur 

County, Georgia. 

9. 

 Plaintiff Lisa DaSilva is an individual resident of Decatur County, Georgia and is the owner 

of and resides at certain real property located at 3813 Bethel Road, Bainbridge, Decatur County, 

Georgia. 

10. 

 Plaintiff Elise Boyd is an individual resident of Leon County, Florida and resides at 8893 

Winged Foot Dr., Tallahassee, Florida. 

11. 

 Plaintiff Epic Design by June Faircloth, LLC is a Georgia corporation with its principal 

business office located at 224 S. West Street, Bainbridge, Decatur County, Georgia. 

 



4 
4853-7465-0325.v3 

12. 

 Plaintiff L2 Bainbridge LLC is a Georgia corporation with its principal business office 

located at 8893 Winged Foot Dr., Tallahassee, Florida.   

13. 

 Plaintiff L2 Bainbridge II LLC is a Georgia corporation with its principal business office 

located at 8893 Winged Foot Dr., Tallahassee, Florida.  

14. 

 Defendant Safer Human Medicine, Inc. (“SHM”) is a Delaware corporation with its 

principal business office located at 21 Sheldon Road, Cohasset, Massachusetts 02025. SHM can 

be served through its registered agent CT Corporation System, 289 South Culver Street, 

Lawrenceville, Georgia 30046. 

15. 

 Defendant Decatur County-Bainbridge Industrial Development Authority (the “Industrial 

Authority”) is a body corporate and politic, and public instrumentality of the State, duly created 

and validly existing pursuant to the laws of the State, including particularly that certain amendment 

to the Constitution of the State, 1968 Ga. Laws 1780, as amended by 1981 Ga. Laws 3482 and as 

continued by 1985 Ga. Laws 3930. Its principal business office is located at 100 Boat Basin Circle, 

Bainbridge, GA 39818, and it may be served through its chairman, Keith Lyle. 

16. 

 Defendant Development Authority of Bainbridge and Decatur County (the “Development 

Authority”) is a development authority formed under the Georgia Development Law, O.C.G.A. § 

36-32-1, et seq., by joint resolution of the Decatur County Board of Commissioners and the Mayor 
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and Council of the City of Bainbridge. Its principal place of office is located at 100 Boat Basin 

Circle, Bainbridge, GA 39818, and it may be served through its chair, Keith Lyle.  

17. 

 The Court has subject matter over this case pursuant to Georgia Constitution art. VI, section 

IV, para. 1. 

18. 

 The Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendants in this action because they are 

residents of Georgia or have availed themselves to the jurisdiction of this Court. 

19. 

 Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to the Georgia Const. art. VI, sect. II, para. III and 

VI because two of the defendants reside in Decatur County, Georgia, and because the torts and 

damages complained of herein have occurred and are occurring in Decatur County. 

Facts 

The Primate Breeding Facility  

20. 

In the Fall of 2023, the City of Bainbridge, Georgia (the “City”), the Development 

Authority, and the Industrial Authority met with SHM behind closed doors to discuss “Project 

Liberty,” a proposed primate breeding facility that, if built, will import and house up to 30,000 

primates (the “Proposed Facility”). The Proposed Facility will import endangered long-tailed 

macaques and perhaps other species of primates from various locations, such as Asia and 

Mauritius, which then will be shipped from the Proposed Facility to other locations for 

experimentation. 
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21. 

 The location of the Proposed Facility is in the Downrange Industrial Park, which is located 

within the city limits of Bainbridge, and abuts both residential and agricultural properties. 

22. 

 SHM is a Delaware corporation that was formed on February 24, 2023, that does not have 

an office, but is run out of a private residential property in Massachusetts. None of its employees, 

officers, or owners reside in Georgia. 

23. 

On October 5, 2023, the Development Authority, together with the City’s City Manager, 

Chris Hobby, presented a proposed incentive package for SHM, which included local incentives, 

many of which were to be provided by the City and Decatur County (the “County”) through tax 

dollars, totaling $58,602,988.56. 

24. 

 Despite extensive public safety, environmental, and ethical considerations, as well as the 

significant tax dollars pledged on behalf of the City and the County, the City and the Development 

Authority purposefully concealed Project Liberty from the public, including residents located 

immediately adjacent to the Proposed Facility and other local taxpayers. 

25. 

 For example, Plaintiffs Chad and Keri Dollar own a home located next to the Proposed 

Facility site and have spent considerable money improving their home, where they intend to raise 

their children. They were never alerted of plans to construct the Proposed Facility next to their 

home, which will now put their children and their domestic animals in danger. Plaintiff Chad and 

Keri Dollar have 44 hens, four roosters, one pig, four dogs, and three cats who will be put at risk 
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and will certainly be stressed by the construction and operation of the Proposed Facility. They 

have put their plans for constructing a 3.5-acre goat area on hold because they can no longer invest 

in their property and will have to sell their property at a potential loss if the Proposed Facility is 

constructed. 

26. 

 If the Proposed Facility is constructed, they will suffer further loss of use and enjoyment, 

and their children will play within feet of tens of thousands of monkeys, and will be routinely 

exposed to the risk of infectious agents emanating from the facility and other potential safety 

issues. They will also be exposed to excessive odors and noise. 

27. 

 The Proposed Facility will also be located next to agricultural properties, putting crops and 

agricultural businesses in danger from water and soil contamination originating from operations at 

the Proposed Facility. 

28. 

Upon information and belief, at least one resident has been advised that produce harvested 

from lands located adjacent to the Proposed Facility will no longer be purchased by local retailers. 

The Bond Validation Process 

29. 

 To further finance Project Liberty, the Industrial Authority also agreed to issue its Taxable 

Revenue Bonds in the principal amount of $300 million (the “Bonds”). 

30. 

 To construct the Proposed Facility, the Development Authority also promised to sell 

approximately 200 acres of land within its Downrange Industrial Park (the “Property”), which has 
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a fair market value of $2,000,000, to SHM for $10.00. The Development Authority further agreed 

to pay SHM’s broker an additional $120,000 brokerage fee. As part of the Bond Transaction, the 

Property would be titled to the Industrial Authority and leased back to SHM pursuant to a rental 

agreement (the “Rental Agreement”) so that SHM could avoid paying some or all of its ad valorem 

taxes. However, there is no evidence that there was an agreement to convey that Property that was 

approved at an open meeting or that otherwise complies with the law. 

31. 

 The Industrial Authority also prepared a “Project Agreement,” which was to be entered 

into by the Industrial Authority, SHM, the County, the City, the Decatur County School District 

(the “School District”), the Decatur County Tax Commissioner (“Tax Commissioner”), and the 

Decatur County Board of Tax Assessors (“BOTA”).   

32. 

 The Industrial Authority also prepared a “PILOT Agreement,” to be entered into by the 

Industrial Authority, SHM, the County, the City, the School District, the Tax Commissioner, and 

the BOTA.  Pursuant to the PILOT Agreement, SHM agreed to make certain payments in lieu of 

taxes to the Industrial Authority as part of the consideration for the Project Agreement, the Rental 

Agreement, and other benefits. 

33. 

 On December 5, 2023, the Industrial Authority and the City’s City Manager communicated 

to the City a plan to have a Special Called Joint Meeting at 11:00 a.m. on December 11, 2023 (the 

“Special Called Meeting”) to approve the Project and PILOT Agreements, as well as a bond 

resolution.   
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34. 

 The Special Called Meeting was held, but it did not meet the requirements of the Georgia 

Open Meetings Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, et seq. and therefore the actions taken by the Industrial 

Authority, the City, the County, the BOE, and the BOTA are not binding, pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 

50-14-1(b)(1). 

35. 

 A lawsuit has been commenced in this Court seeking a declaration that the actions taken 

by the City, the County, the BOE, the BOTA and the School District are not binding because of 

the Open Meetings Act violations. See Dollar, et al. v. City of Bainbridge, et al, Case No. 

24CV00046. 

36. 

A bond validation case was filed for the purposes of issuing the Bonds under O.C.G.A § 

36-82-60 et seq  (the “Revenue Bond Law”), and the bond validation order issued in that case has 

been appealed based on, among other things, the Industrial Authority’s failure to comply with the 

validation procedures under the Revenue Bond Law. 

37. 

 Even if affirmed on appeal, the bond validation order is not relevant to the relief sought in 

this litigation.   

38. 

 Section 1.7 of the PILOT Agreement provides that the Industrial Authority has the right to 

elect not to proceed with the Project before the Bonds are issued. 
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39. 

 On February 2, 2024, the Industrial Authority voted to revoke its participation in Project 

Liberty, and therefore, to the extent that the PILOT Agreement is binding, pursuant to Section 1.7 

of the PILOT Agreement, the Industrial Authority elected not to issue the Bonds. 

40. 

 Also pursuant to Section 12.2 of the Project Agreement, to the extent the Project  

Agreement is valid, by February 29, 2024, if (i) SHM did not receive confirmation from the State 

that SHM would receive certain State incentives; (ii) there was no closing on the Purchase and 

Sale Agreement (“PSA”); (iii) there was not a final judgment issued by the Superior Court of 

Decatur County confirming and validating the bonds, or the validation had not been appealed; and 

(iv) the bonds were not issued, then the Project Agreement would be of no further force and effect. 

Safer Human Medicine 

41. 

While SHM is a newly formed corporation, SHM’s principals and officers include former 

executives from other animal research/breeding companies that have been cited previously for 

numerous violations of the federal Animal Welfare Act (“AWA”), the Clean Water Act, and other 

federal laws..   

42. 

 Indeed, SHM’s principals, who will be charged with operating the Proposed Facility in 

Bainbridge, have an established pattern of disregarding laws and engaging in unethical practices, 

and upon information and belief, will continue those practices if they are permitted to operate any 

animal breeding facility in Bainbridge. 
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43. 

Jim Harkness, the Chief Executive Officer of SHM, was the Chief Operating Officer of 

Envigo, a private company that procured, bred, and sold animals, including beagles and monkeys, 

for experimentation. See Meredith Wadman, In a First, State Bill Would Require Nearly Perfect 

Welfare Record for Research Dog and Cat Suppliers, SCIENCE (Mar. 9, 2022), 

https://www.science.org/content/article/first-state-bill-would-require-nearly-perfect-welfare-

record-research-dog-and-cat, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  Harkness was the executive in charge 

of animal research models when the Envigo beagle-breeding facility in Virginia was raided by the 

U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) in 2021.   

44. 

Under Mr. Harkness’ leadership, Envigo exhibited a disregard for animal welfare and 

sanitation. Inspectors from the United States Department of Agriculture found numerous violations 

of the federal AWA, including “live insects, worms, maggots, beetles, flies, ants, mold, and feces,” 

in the dogs’ food and said that 300 puppies had died in the span of seven months of “unknown 

causes.” See United States of America v. Envigo RMS, LLC, Case No. 6:22cv-00028 (W.D. Va.) 

(Temporary Restraining Order), attached hereto as Exhibit B; see also Affidavit in Support of an 

Application Under Rule 41 for a Warrant of Search and Seize filed in In the Matter of Search of 

Envigo, Case No. 6:22mj3 (W.D. Va.), attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

45. 

The Department of Justice found thousands of dogs in acute distress and seized nearly 

4,000 beagles from Envigo. In July 2022, the United States District Court for the Western District 

of Virginia entered a consent order barring the Virginia Envigo facility from any activity requiring 

a federal AWA license. See DOJ Press Release, Justice Department Secures the Surrender of Over 
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4,000 Beagles from Virginia Breeder of Dogs for Research, (July 18, 2022), attached hereto as 

Exhibit D.   

46. 

 Under Harkness’ management, Envigo also failed to undertake any steps to monitor and 

test for diseases, and regularly failed to “prevent, control, diagnose, and treat diseases and 

injuries,” in the animals under Envigo’s care and as required by law. See Ex. B (citing 9 C.F.R. § 

2.40(b)(2)). 

47. 

 Under Harkness’ management, Envigo also violated the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 

1311 and 1319(c)(2)(A), by failing to comply with effluent limitation standards. 

48. 

Ultimately, in June 2024, Envigo pled guilty to violations of the AWA and the Clean Water 

Act and was fined $35 million. See United States v. Envigo RMS, LLC, No. 6:22-cv-00028-NKM 

(W.D.Va. June 3, 2024) (Plea Agreement). 

49. 

David Johst, the current President of SHM, retired in 2019 as Corporate Executive Vice 

President, General Counsel & Chief Administrative Officer of Charles River Laboratories, a 

company with a sordid history of violating the AWA and damaging fragile ecosystems. Charles 

River Laboratories is currently under civil and criminal investigation by the DOJ, the U.S. Fish & 

Wildlife Service (“USFWS”), and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission for 

conduct pertinent to the alleged illegal importation of endangered wild-caught long-tailed macaque 

monkeys. 
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50. 

Kurt Derfler, the Chief Operating Officer of SHM, retired as executive director of primate 

operations at Charles River Laboratories in May 2023. During his tenure with Charles River 

Laboratories, USFWS denied entry to more than 1,000 long-tailed macaques, allegedly illegally 

imported into the United States from Cambodia. Prior to this, Derfler was Vice President of North 

America Operations at Envigo and Executive Director of Operations at Covance Research 

Products, a similar company that was subsequently acquired by Envigo and at the heart of the 

alleged conspiracy to illegally import and market endangered long-tailed macaques. 

51. 

 Zach Wienberg, a Director of SHM, has publicly espoused on X (f/k/a Twitter), views that 

“we shouldn't spend 1 minute thinking about protecting endangered animals,” and states that the 

“biggest impediment to environmental progress is environmental review.” 

Health and Safety Concerns - Disease 

52. 

There are considerable health risks associated with the primates that SHM intends to bring 

into the Proposed Facility. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) has warned 

that primates pose a significant risk to public health, as diseases and environmental pollution are 

likely to spread to people and animals despite the use of quarantine facilities and other purported 

safeguards, putting Decatur County and areas beyond at significant risk. 

53. 

The Proposed Facility would be the largest primate breeding facility, not just in the United 

States, but in the entire Western Hemisphere, holding up to thirty thousand (30,000) monkeys. By 
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comparison, the next largest facility in the United States holds about seven thousand (7,000) 

primates.  

54. 

Upon information and belief, the monkeys will be imported from Asia and Mauritius, a 

country in East Africa, from facilities that have been identified as harboring and exporting 

monkeys infected with highly virulent zoonotic pathogens, including bacteria, viruses and 

parasites, which can be spread to humans and other animals. 

55. 

Primates imported and used for breeding and experimentation are known to carry and 

transmit multiple pathogens and diseases, including Herpes B Virus, Tuberculosis, Ebola-like 

Viruses, Simian Hemorrhagic Fever Virus, Shigellosis, Salmonellosis, Campylobacter, Malaria, 

Dengue, and Leprosy. 

56. 

 There will be numerous potential exposure pathways originating from the Proposed 

Facility. For example, the primates will have indoor-outdoor environments and their waste will be 

aerosolized during even routine cleaning, which will contaminate the surrounding soil and surface 

water.  

57. 

There will also be significant solid and biological wastes and fomites requiring disposal, 

including biomedical waste and sharps, soiled bedding, food contaminated with fecal matter, and 

primate carcasses, the handling of which will increase possible exposure to pathogens.  
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58. 

 Just one example of a possible outbreak that may arise from the extreme concentration of 

primates is Melioidosis. Burkholderia pseudomallei is a bacterium that causes an infectious disease 

called Melioidosis, which has a mortality rate approaching 50 percent. The bacterium is shed in 

primatal bodily fluids and can survive in contaminated soil or water for years. 

59. 

Burkholderia pseudomallei was detected in a monkey colony operated by the CDC in 2013, 

and in an outdoor monkey colony in Louisiana in 2015, and in Envigo's current primate quarantine 

facility in Texas in 2014 and 2015 and in 2021. Most monkeys imported into the U.S. originate in 

countries where melioidosis is currently endemic. The CDC has acknowledged the inability of 

quarantine to consistently detect infected monkeys. 

60. 

Diagnostics testing for Melioidosis infections in monkeys is notoriously challenging. The 

incubation period for Melioidosis in primates is not definitively known but can be prolonged, 

laying dormant for many years until becoming active; one report described a macaque that 

developed Melioidosis 10 years after importation into the U.S, suggesting that quarantining 

monkeys after importation does not rid a breeding, housing, or research facility of the risk of an 

eventual spread.  

61. 

 Primates are also capable of carrying zoonotic malarial parasites, which can be 

transmitted through mosquitoes to the residents of South Georgia.  
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62. 

In December 2023, the CDC revealed that from 2021 to 2023, there was a significant 

increase in imported shipments of monkeys with Tuberculosis, which is transmissible from 

animals to humans.  

63. 

 Indeed, four different strains of Tuberculosis entered the United States through monkeys 

since 2020, and the CDC confirmed that monkeys with these strains have exited CDC-mandated 

quarantine undetected. The CDC has further confirmed that institutions receiving primates may 

not have implemented the same level of controls to reduce the risk of Tuberculosis transmission 

as do quarantine facilities 

64. 

As a result of failed quarantines in June 2023, imported monkeys at a lab in Michigan 

tested positive for Tuberculosis—despite having undergone a thirty-one (31) day CDC-mandated 

quarantine at a facility in Florida—and at least two workers were exposed and referred for 

treatment.  

65. 

Multiple Ebola-like virus outbreaks also have occurred in primate laboratories in the U.S. 

66. 

In 1989, Reston Ebola Virus (“RESTV”) was introduced into quarantine facilities in 

Virginia and Pennsylvania by monkeys imported from the Philippines. 
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67. 

In 1989-1990, RESTV was introduced into primate quarantine facilities in Texas by 

monkeys imported from the Philippines. In 1996 in Alice, Texas, an outbreak occurred at the Texas 

Primate Center (now Inotiv). 

68. 

Ebola is a filovirus, and the CDC reported that between 2019 and 2022 multiple monkeys 

were imported with clinical signs consistent with filovirus infection. 

69. 

While the CDC is aware of these risks, there are currently no statutes or regulations in place 

that force or compel importers of monkeys to screen imported animals for diseases; this process is 

left entirely up to the importer of monkeys to decide.  

70. 

 SHM principals, who each have proven failures with respect to disease control, animal 

welfare, and federal environmental regulations, will now create a hotspot in the middle of 

Bainbridge by bringing in tens of thousands of primates to act as a reservoir for disease 

transmission in a residential area of Bainbridge.  

Health and Safety – Risk of Escape 

71. 

The risk of monkeys escaping into the suburban and rural environment of Bainbridge, 

where people and animals (both wild and domesticated) live amplifies the physical danger of those 

people and animals encountering the foreign, deadly diseases for which the species of monkeys 

caught up in the international trade of wildlife are known to be common carriers. 
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72. 

Primates have escaped from even the most respected monkey facilities. In 2018, four 

baboons who had broken out of Texas Biomedical Research Institute were spotted on a roadway 

by residents before they were recaptured.1 Primates have also escaped from MD Anderson Cancer 

Center;2 Tulane University;3 Oregon Health & Science University;4 Emory University;5 and Wake 

Forest University.6  

73. 

There is also the potential for escape when the primates are transported from one location 

to another. For example, in Pennsylvania, a truck hauling 100 long-tailed macaques to a quarantine 

facility collided with another vehicle resulting in the escape of several monkeys, some of which 

had direct contact with motorists who stopped to survey the scene of the accident. At least one 

individual required preventive treatment after being exposed to macaque bodily fluids.7 

 
1 See Japhanie Gray, Baboons on the Loose Returned to Texas Biomedical Research Institute, 
KSAT NEWS (Apr. 16, 2018), https://www.ksat.com/news/2018/04/16/baboons-on-the-loose-
returned-to-texas-biomedical-research-institute/. 
2See Escaped Research Chimp Killed, ABC13 (Mar. 13, 2008), 
https://abc13.com/archive/6018837/ 
3 See 2 Dozen Monkeys Escape from Tulane Center, CHRON. HIGHER EDUC. (Oct. 30, 1998), 
https://www.chronicle.com/article/2-dozen-monkeys-escape-from-tulane-center/ 
4 See Kaylee Tornay, Primate Research Center in Oregan Leads Nation in Violations, OPB (Jan. 
19, 2023), https://www.opb.org/article/2023/01/19/oregon-primate-research-center-violations-
ohsu/ and Kay Mitchell, Oregan Great Primate Escape Nearly Over – 8 of 9 Captured, OR. LIVE 
(Apr. 5, 2009), https://www.oregonlive.com/news/2009/04/some_monkeys_flee_ohsu_lab 
may.html 
5 See David Ibata, Search Ends in Gwinnett for Missing Research Monkey, AJC (Aug. 22, 2011), 
https://www.ajc.com/news/local/search-ends-gwinnett-for-missing-research-monkey/ 
BxH5q6i02evDRwXRh55iDL/ 
6 See Wake Forest Baptist Cited After Monkey’s Escape, FOX 8 (Aug. 8, 2012), 
https://myfox8.com/news/wake-forest-baptist-cited-for-violating-federal-law-after-monkeys-
escape/ 
7 See Pa. woman exposed to lab monkeys after crash irked by lack of answers from CDC, state 
(Feb. 09, 2022), https://www.pennlive.com/news/2022/02/lack-of-answers-from-cdc-health-
department-irks-pa-woman-exposed-to-lab-monkeys.html 
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74. 

Escaped primates can also be aggressive.8 Even macaques that are raised by humans can 

be aggressive to both people and companion animals, as evidenced by the killing of a pet macaque 

in May 2024 near Charleston, South Carolina that was attacking dogs.9  

75. 

Primates are also highly intelligent and adapt to their surroundings out of captivity. Florida 

now has colonies of primates that originated from only a few breeding pairs. These colonies have 

impacted agriculture and created safety and disease concerns in those locales. 

76. 

 When compounded with their likelihood of escape and the presence of 30,000 macaques 

at a single facility, the chances of monkeys getting out of the Proposed Facility and into the 

community creates an untenable risk, which in turn, has created intense fear among Bainbridge 

residents. 

Environmental Impact 

77. 

 Prior smaller breeding operations have resulted in ecological catastrophes. In the 1970s, 

Charles Rivers Laboratories constructed a much smaller breeding facility in a fragile ecosystem in 

the Florida Keys. Some of the monkeys escaped and established colonies that decimated protected 

coastal mangroves, which had been home to a variety of species, resulting in an eroded shoreline.  

 

 
8 Georgia is one of many jurisdictions that prohibit private ownership of primates for public 
safety reasons. See O.C.G.A § 27-5-5. 
9 See Tim Renaud, Escaped Monkey Was Shot by Homeowner, Officials Say, COLLETON CNTY. 
NEWS (May 29, 2024), https://www.counton2.com/news/local-news/colleton-county-
news/missing-monkey-in-walterboro-was-not-captured-alive-officials-say/.  
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78. 

Also, the waste of more than 2,500 monkeys polluted the waters, leaving a line of brown 

algae that impacted marine life. After damaging public resources for decades, it took years of 

lawsuits for Charles River to finally turn the land—now dead—back over to the state of Florida. 

79. 

 Primate urine, feces, saliva, blood, food waste, carcasses, cleaning agents, and other waste 

associated with operations at the Primate Facility will be routinely generated and will require 

routine disposal and containment.  

80. 

 Even the act of routine cleaning primate group enclosures will cause pathogen-

contaminated waste to become aerosolized, which means that before any solid waste disposal and 

wastewater treatment, pathogens and chemicals will have entered the environment. 

81. 

 SHM has already estimated that the Proposed Facility will generate an estimated 444,000 

gallons of wastewater per day before it reaches its full operational capacity. 

82. 

 The present wastewater infrastructure that services the Property is not sufficient to treat the 

waste that will be generated at the Proposed Facility and an alternate treatment facility has not 

been and cannot be reasonably constructed. 

83. 

The Proposed Facility would be located in an area of historical flooding, and will be 

situated within approximately 500 meters of the Flint River. 
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84. 

 Ultimately, the wastewater generated at the Proposed Facility will impact soil and will be 

released to the Flint River, and it will in turn travel downstream, ultimately impacting other areas. 

85. 

The Development Authority has already started clearing the Property to prepare for the 

construction of the Proposed Facility, and, in doing so, has already received a notice of violation 

for failing to comply with environmental laws, including the Georgia Water Quality Control Act, 

O.C.G.A. § 12-5-20 et seq. 

86. 

 More specifically, on February 5, 2024, the Georgia Department of Natural Resources 

Environmental Protection Division (“EPD”) issued a Notice of Violation, which resulted in a 

$10,000 fine against the Development Authority and required corrective action.  

87. 

 Defendants also engaged in unlawful land disturbing practices, potentially destroying 

gopher tortoise and indigo snake habitats, in violation of the Endangered Species Act and USFWS 

rules and regulations. 

88. 

SHM’s CEO’s former workplace is currently under investigation for violating the federal 

Clean Water Act, the Texas State Water Control Law and local water pre-treatment requirements 

for their Alice, Texas facility—which holds tens of thousands fewer primates than would 

eventually be housed at the Proposed Facility. 
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89. 

 All of these violations are part of a larger pattern, as evidenced by Envigo’s past violations 

of the Clean Water Act, and Mr. Weinberg’s admitted contempt for environmental protection laws. 

Noise, Odors and Wildlife Concerns 

90. 

The housing of the primates, in both indoor and outdoor enclosures, is expected to result 

in unbearably loud noises that will impact the comfort and well-being of the residents and workers 

within close proximity to the Proposed Facility.   

91. 

The housing of the primates will also result in intense, persistent odors that will impact 

adjacent landowners.   

92. 

The Proposed Facility will also attract and increase the presence of wildlife, including 

racoons, feral swine, and animals deemed pests under law, including rodents, snakes, mosquitoes, 

flies, and other insects. In addition to the loss of use and enjoyment of residential property owners, 

the increase in pests will cause damages to crops and the probable transmission of diseases to 

people, livestock, companion animals, and crops.  

93. 

Increased truck traffic is also expected to occur near the Proposed Facility, which will 

further increase health and safety concerns.  Some of the vehicles traveling to and from the location 

will transport biological waste, including, potentially, animal carcasses and primate bodily fluids. 

 

 



23 
4853-7465-0325.v3 

The Proposed Facility has Already Caused Economic Losses 

94. 

 The Proposed Facility, and therefore Bainbridge, has been the subject of national and 

international news since the Proposed Facility was announced, which has resulted in reputational 

damage to Bainbridge. 

95. 

 As a result of the announcement, real estate investors have declared that they are going to 

cease further investment in Bainbridge. 

96. 

 Plaintiffs L2 Bainbridge LLC and L2 Bainbridge II LLC are two such investors that owns 

a building with retail and rentable residential spaces in Bainbridge. The construction of the 

Proposed Facility will reduce their investments in the building, and they have ceased further 

investment in the area until it is certain the Proposed Facility will not be built. The loss on the 

investment also results in loss of revenue for an owner of the investment companies, Plaintiff Elise 

Boyd. 

97. 

Plaintiff Epic Design by June Faircloth, LLC, a design consulting business owned by 

Plaintiff June Faircloth, has also already been impacted, with business slowing as investment in 

Bainbridge real estate has declined. 

98. 

 Notwithstanding that Plaintiffs Chad and Keri Dollar have invested a significant amount 

of money into improving their home, if they can sell it, it will be at a reduced value because of its 
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close proximity to the Proposed Facility, which has also impacted their use and enjoyment of their 

home. 

99. 

 Plaintiffs Johnny and Penny Reynolds, retirees who live on a fixed income, reside on a 

property that directly abuts the Proposed Facility. They are already aware that their property has 

been made unmarketable due to its location because they have been unable to sell it.  

100. 

 Plaintiffs David and Donna Barber are senior citizens who live only 400 feet from the 

Proposed Facility, who are concerned about their health, the noise, the odor, the increased traffic, 

and the safety risks that will be created by the Proposed Facility. They are also aware that the value 

of their home will continue to decline if the Proposed Facility is constructed.  

101. 

 In addition to the decline in real estate values and in investment in Bainbridge, farmers also 

will be negatively impacted by the presence of the Proposed Facility because, although crops will 

likely continue to grow, there is still a risk of contamination caused by the close proximity of the 

primates and fouled wastewater.  

102. 

 Plaintiffs June Faircloth, Walter (Ted) Lee, and Larry and Carolyn Funderburke live on the 

Flint River and are familiar with historical flooding that has occurred in the area of the Proposed 

Facility. They are concerned about the impact to their properties and the Flint River, especially 

with respect to surface water pollution and continued Clean Water Act violations. 
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103. 

Plaintiffs John T. Reynolds, III, Dana Martin, Kristina Martin, and Lisa DaSilva all reside 

in the community and have made significant investments in their properties, which will be 

impacted by the construction and operation of the Proposed Facility. 

104. 

 An enterprise in Florida similar to the Proposed Facility is indicative of the future 

conditions and economic losses that will exist here. BC US operates a facility in Florida for the 

quarantine, holding and breeding of imported monkeys for use in research and testing. A recent 

lawsuit involving BC US identifies violations of environmental laws and improper disposal of 

animal waste by BC US resulting from just 2,500 monkeys (a fraction of the 30,000 monkeys that 

the Proposed Facility will hold), and the landowner in that case describes canals, "filled with 

floating solid animal feces, algae, and scum resulting from overloading of nutrients" that are a 

threat to the Big Cypress National Preserve, and to the water resources that are essential to a 

healthy ecosystem and the clean water that Florida's people, animals and plants depend upon."10 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT ONE – DECLARATORY RELIEF UNDER O.C.G.A. § 9-4-2 - NUISANCE 

105. 

Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

 

 

 
10 See Huge Florida Monkey Farm Sues Competitor Over Land Purchase (Jul. 30, 2024), 
https://www.swflorida.blogspot.com/2024/07/huge-florida-monkey-farm-sues.html?m=1 
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106. 

 There is an actual and justiciable controversy presented by facts stated herein regarding the 

construction of the Proposed Facility, and whether the Proposed Facility can be allowed to operate 

as proposed within Bainbridge to the detriment of Plaintiffs and other citizens. The potential 

operation of the Proposed Facility has created uncertainty and insecurity for Plaintiffs with regard 

to their respective rights. Specifically, the dangers posed by the Proposed Facility will result in an 

unsafe environment for Plaintiffs, could create life-threatening conditions, and is already 

destroying the economic fabric of the community. 

107. 

 As a result of this present, actual and justiciable controversy created by the Proposed 

Facility, the Court should declare and find that Defendants’ current and future acts relating to the 

development of the Property, development of infrastructure to serve the Property, and the 

development of the Proposed Facility constitute a continuing nuisance and declare that actions 

constituting the continuing nuisance are prohibited. 

COUNT TWO – DECLARATORY RELIEF UNDER O.C.G.A. § 9-4-2 – TERMINATION 
OF PILOT AND PROJECT AGREEMENTS 

 
108. 

Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

109. 

 There is also an actual and justiciable controversy presented by facts stated herein 

regarding whether the Project Agreement and PILOT Agreement, even if validated, were 

terminated by the vote of the Industrial Authority on February 2, 2024, and whether any bonds 
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may now be issued since the validated Project Agreement would have terminated on February 29, 

2024. 

110. 

 The Court should further declare that the actions taken by the Industrial Authority on 

February 2, 2024, effectively terminated the Industrial Authority’s participation in the Proposed 

Facility, and that the Bond Validation Order is therefore of no further purpose or effect. 

COUNT THREE – DECLARATORY RELIEF UNDER O.C.G.A. § 9-4-2 – VIOLATIONS 
OF GRATUITIES CLAUSE AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITIES LAW 

 
111. 

Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

112. 

 The Georgia Constitution prohibits the General Assembly from granting any donation or 

gratuity, or vacating any public property, for the sole benefit of a private individual. See Ga. Const., 

art. III, sec. VI, para. VI. For purposes of the constitutional provision, a “gratuity” is something 

given freely or without recompense, where the giver receives no substantial benefits in exchange. 

113. 

 The Industrial Authority and Development Authority exist under the Development 

Authority Laws, O.C.G.A. § 36-62-1, et seq. 

114. 

 The Development Authorities Law, O.C.G.A. § 36-62-6(7), permits a development 

authority: 

to dispose of any real property for fair market value or any amount below fair 
market value as determined by the board of directors of the authority, regardless of 
prior development of such property as a project, whenever the board of directors of 
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the authority may deem such disposition to be in the best interests of the authority 
if the board of directors of the authority prior to such disposition shall determine 
that such real property no longer can be used advantageously as a project for the 
development of trade, commerce, industry, and employment opportunities and if 
title to such real property is to be transferred to the state. 
 

115. 

 Neither the Gratuities Clause nor the Development Authorities Law permit the gift of a 

$2,000,000 property to SHM for $10 as contemplated under the Project Agreement (if valid). 

Similarly, neither the Gratuities Clause nor the Development Authorities Law permit payment of 

$120,000 to a broker for a property gifted by the Development Authority to either the Industrial 

Authority or SHM. 

116. 

 The Development Authorities Law also does not permit the transfer of real property 

pursuant to contracts that have been rescinded, invalidated, revoked or terminated.  

117. 

 Accordingly, the Court should declare that the conveyance of real property to SHM for any 

amount that is below the fair market value or that is conveyed pursuant a rescinded, invalidated, 

revoked or terminated contract is invalidated. 

COUNT FOUR – INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UDER O.C.G.A. § 9-4-3 

118. 

Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

119. 

 Under Georgia law:  

[a] nuisance is anything that causes hurt, inconvenience, or damage to another and 
the fact that the act done may otherwise be lawful shall not keep it from being a 
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nuisance. The inconvenience complained of shall not be fanciful, or such as would 
affect only one of fastidious taste, but it shall be such as would affect an ordinary, 
reasonable man.   

 
O.C.G.A. § 41-1-1. Georgia law also prohibits interference with the rights of property owners, 

which includes interference through increased wildlife, noise, odors, and unreasonably dangerous 

conditions. Once the Proposed Facility is constructed, the surrounding properties are also one large 

storm away from an unrecoverable disaster. 

120. 

 SHM’s principals have historically failed to comply with numerous environmental laws, 

such as the federal Clean Water Act, the AWA and the Endangered Species Act and the rules and 

regulations promulgated thereunder. And, the Development Authority has recently violated the 

Georgia Water Quality Control Act and the Endangered Species Act with respect to preparing the 

land to build the Proposed Facility. 

121. 

 There exists an immediacy of need to require and compel Defendants to cease and desist 

from further failures and refusals to comply with their duties and responsibilities under common 

law and statutory law. 

122. 

 Plaintiffs therefore respectfully request that this Court issue an order enjoining Defendants 

both temporarily and permanently, from continuing their refusal to comply with their common law 

and statutory obligations and duties, and further enjoining them from undertaking any further 

activities that harm and will continue to harm Plaintiffs, including the continuing nuisance arising 

from the construction and operation of the Proposed Facility. 
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COUNT FIVE – NUISANCE 

123. 

 Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

124. 

 Defendants’ announcement of the Proposed Facility and the dangers that it poses on the 

community have already caused hurt, inconvenience, and damages to Plaintiffs, constituting a 

public nuisance pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 41-1-1. 

125. 

Defendants’ future operation of the Proposed Facility will cause hurt, inconvenience, and 

damage to Plaintiffs, constituting a public nuisance pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 41-1-1. 

126. 

In addition to the public nuisance, Defendants’ construction and operation of the Proposed 

Facility is also a private nuisance to the owners of real property whose land abuts or will be 

immediately affected by the polluting effects of the Proposed Facility pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 41-

1-2 because the construction and operation of the Proposed Facility will cause pollution, potential 

disease, noise, increased traffic, unpleasant odors, and property devaluation.  

127. 

If the consequence of a nuisance about to be erected or commenced will be irreparable and 

such consequence is not merely possible but is to a reasonable degree certain, an injunction may 

be issued to restrain the nuisance before it is completed pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 41-2-4. 
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128. 

A landowner should not have to wait until a contemplated structure is built before bringing 

suit for declaratory, injunctive, or other relief. Hitch v. Vasarhelyi, 680 S.E.2d 411, 413 (Ga. 2009).  

129. 

 It is reasonably certain that the Proposed Facility will cause irreparable damage to the 

Plaintiffs. 

130. 

 Therefore, Plaintiffs request that this Court issue an injunction enjoining the construction 

and operation of the Proposed Facility. 

131. 

Monetary damages to Plaintiffs will not redress the hurt, inconvenience, and damage 

Defendants will cause by the construction and operation of the Proposed Facility. 

132. 

Absent injunctive relief, Plaintiffs have no other adequate remedy at law such that 

injunctive relief limiting Defendants’ operation of the Proposed Facility is warranted and will not 

hurt the public interest. 

133. 

Plaintiffs therefore request that the Court issue a permanent injunction to halt the 

construction and operation of the Proposed Facility to abate the current nuisance and prevent a 

future nuisance. 

134. 

The Court should also award Plaintiffs other damages to be determined by a jury. 
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COUNT IV – INVERSE CONDEMNATION 

135. 

 Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

136. 

 Plaintiffs are entitled to maintain a private cause of action for injunctive relief and damages 

against Defendants for their actions which constitute a continuing nuisance or inverse 

condemnation under Article I, Section 3, Paragraph 1(a) of the Georgia Constitution. 

137. 

Defendants have engaged in reckless behavior that has resulted in harm, trouble and 

expense for Plaintiffs, and are undertaking actions that are putting Plaintiffs’ health and property 

in danger. 

138. 

 Defendants’ actions have caused property values to plummet and have caused the 

properties of Bainbridge residents to become worthless.  

139. 

 Plaintiffs are entitled to an award for inverse condemnation in an amount equal to the lost 

values of their properties. 

COUNT V – ATTORNEY’S FEES AND EXPENSES UNDER O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 

140. 

 Plaintiffs restate and re-allege the averments of all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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141. 

 For the reasons set forth herein, Defendants have been stubbornly litigious, have not acted 

in good faith, and have caused unnecessary trouble and expenses to Plaintiffs. As a result, Plaintiffs 

have been forced to file this action. 

142. 

 As a result of Defendants’ foregoing conduct, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their 

reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses from this action. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that: 

(a) the Court issue a declaratory judgment declaring that (a) the Defendants’ current and 

future acts relating to the development of the Property, development of infrastructure 

to serve the Property and the development of the Proposed Facility constitute a 

continuing nuisance and declare that actions constituting the continuing nuisance are 

prohibited; (b) the Resolution adopted by the Industrial Authority on February 2, 2024, 

effectively terminated the Industrial Authority’s participation in the Proposed Facility, 

and that the Bond Validation Order is therefore of no further purpose or effect; and (c) 

there is no lawfully-approved agreement to sell or otherwise convey the Property and 

any sale of the Property for less than the fair market value is invalid because it violates 

the Gratuities Clause and the Development Authorities Law; 

(b) the Court issue an Order to temporarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from 

continuing to disregard their statutory and common law duties and obligations, and 

issue an order enjoining Defendants both temporarily and permanently from 

undertaking any further activities that are harming and will continue to harm Plaintiffs. 

Such activities to be enjoined include the (1) further land disturbance activities at the 
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Property; (2) further economic investment in the Proposed Facility; (3) the transport 

and location of primates to the Proposed Facility, if constructed; and (4) the issuance 

of the Bonds; 

(c) the Court issue a permanent injunction to halt the construction and operation of the 

Proposed Facility to abate the current nuisance and prevent a future nuisance; 

(d) the Court should also award Plaintiffs damages for Defendants’ unlawful conduct to be 

determined by a jury; 

(e) the Court award Plaintiffs monetary damages equal to the diminished value of their 

properties; and 

(f) Defendants be ordered to pay all reasonable costs and legal fees incurred by Plaintiffs, 

or that would be billed to Plaintiffs or that are incurred on behalf of Plaintiffs by their 

attorneys, in the normal course of representation. 

Respectfully submitted this 14th day of August 2024. 

ARNALL GOLDEN GREGORY LLP 
/s/ Rebecca A. Davis   
Rebecca A. Davis 
Georgia Bar No. 141711 
Jennifer Shelfer 
Georgia Bar No. 557213 
Natalie Cascario 
Georgia Bar No. 634589 
Ryan P. Lynn 
Georgia Bar No. 450269 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

171 17th Street, N.W., Suite 2100 
Atlanta, Georgia 30363-1031 
404-873-8500 
Rebecca.Davis@agg.com 
Jennifer.Shelfer@agg.com 
Natalie.Cascario@agg.com 
Ryan.Lynn@agg.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

LYNCHBURG DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

ENVIGO RMS, LLC, 

Defendant. 

Case No.: 6:22-cv-00028 

TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 
(ISSUED EX PARTE) 

Judge Norman K. Moon 

On May 19, 2022, the United States of America filed a complaint and motion requesting 

an ex parte temporary restraining order directed against Envigo, a company that breeds and sells 

animals for use in scientific research. Envigo’s facility in Cumberland, Virginia, raises thousands 

of beagles for these purposes at any given time. This Court now concludes that the Government 

has provided sufficient evidence that Envigo is engaged in serious and ongoing violations of the 

Animal Welfare Act, and that an immediate temporary restraining order must issue to put a halt 

to such violations pending further proceedings.  

Over 300 beagle puppies have died onsite due to “unknown causes” over seven months. 

Many were not given anesthesia before they were euthanized by intracardiac injection. Beagles 

with even minor injuries or easily treated medical conditions were euthanized rather than given 

veterinary care. Nursing female beagles were denied food, and so they (and their litters) were 

unable to get adequate nutrition. The food that the beagles did receive was observed to contain 

live insects, worms, maggots, beetles, flies, ants, mold, and feces.  
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Beagle puppies remained housed in their enclosures as they were hosed down with cold 

water, leaving them shivering. Over an eight-week period, 25 beagle puppies died from cold 

exposure. The enclosures were overcrowded. The facility was understaffed. Inspectors found 

over 900 beagle and beagle puppy records to be incomplete or inaccurate. The list of serious 

violations of the Animal Welfare Act and its regulations goes on and on. Indeed, pursuant to 

federal search warrant executed days ago (May 18, 2022), law enforcement has seized 145 dogs 

and puppies from the facility that veterinarians determined needed immediate care to alleviate 

life-threatening illnesses or injuries. 

The Government has demonstrated that extraordinary relief in the form of an ex parte 

temporary restraining order is warranted to put an immediate halt to such practices. Defendants 

will have the opportunity to plead their case on an expedited basis.  

Background 

Congress enacted the Animal Welfare Act (“AWA”), in part, “to insure that animals 

intended for use in research facilities … are provided humane care and treatment.” 7 U.S.C. 

§ 2131(1); People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals v. U.S. Dep’t of Ag., 861 F.3d 502, 508

(4th Cir. 2017) (“Congress passed the AWA in 1966 to regulate the research, exhibition, and sale 

of animals, as well as to assure their humane treatment.”).  

The AWA authorizes the Secretary of Agriculture to “promulgate such rules, regulations, 

and orders as he may deem necessary in order to effectuate the purposes of [the AWA].” 7 

U.S.C. §§ 2132(b), 2151. The Secretary has promulgated many such regulations under the AWA. 

See 9 C.F.R. § 1.1–3.142. The AWA and its regulations “set forth minimum requirements for the 

treatment of animals by dealers, research facilities, and exhibitors, including how animals are to 

be handled, housed, fed, transported, and provided veterinary care.” United States v. Lowe, No. 
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20-cv-0423, 2021 WL 149838 at *11 (E.D. Okla. Jan. 15, 2021) (citing 7 U.S.C. § 2143(a)(1)-

(a)(2)(A); 9 C.F.R. § 3.1-.142). 

Envigo RMS, LLC operates a facility in Cumberland, Virginia where it deals in beagles 

intended for use at research facilities.1 Dkt. 1 (“Compl.”) ¶ 3. Up to 5,000 beagles have been 

housed at this facility since July 2021. Id. In 2019, the United States Department of Agriculture 

(“USDA”) issued Envigo a “Class A” license under the AWA to breed and sell dogs (AWA 

license 32-A-0774). Id. ¶¶ 3, 48; Dkt. 2-1 p. 3.  

Between July 2021 and March 2022, USDA’s Animal and Plant Health Inspection 

Service (“APHIS”) conducted five inspections of Envigo’s Cumberland facility—documenting 

over 60 citations for Envigo’s failing to comply with the AWA and its regulations, and over half 

of those were “critical” or “direct” violations, which are the most serious type of violation. See 

Compl. ¶¶ 4, 50–54; Dkts. 2-2 – 2.6.2 On May 18, 2022, USDA agents and other law 

enforcement officers executed a federal search warrant at the Cumberland facility, seizing 145 

dogs and puppies that were determined to be in “acute distress” and needing immediate 

veterinary care to alleviate life-threatening illnesses or injuries. Compl. ¶ 55; Dkt. 2-8 ¶ 8 

(“Moffett Decl.”); Dkt. 2-9 ¶ 6 (“Hollingsworth Decl.”). 

On May 19, 2022, the Government filed this federal lawsuit against Envigo, alleging six 

violations of the Animal Welfare Act and its implementing regulations. See Compl. Later that 

1 In November 2021, Inotiv, Inc., announced it had acquired Envigo, but the site still 
operates under Envigo’s AWA license. Compl. ¶ 52. 

2 These include a “routine inspection” and a separate “focused inspection” conducted in 
July 2021 (Dkts. 2-2, 2-3), a focused inspection conducted in October 2021 (Dkt. 2-4), a routine 
inspection conducted in November 2021 (Dkt. 2-5), and another focused inspection conducted in 
March 2022 (Dkt. 2-6). 
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day the Government also filed an ex parte motion and brief requesting that the Court issue a 

temporary restraining order against Envigo. See Dkts. 2, 2-1.  

Standard of Review 

Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that “[t]he court may issue a 

temporary restraining order without written or oral notice to the adverse party or its attorney only 

if” two conditions are met. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(1). First, the movant must provide “specific 

facts in an affidavit or a verified complaint [that] clearly show that immediate and irreparable 

injury, loss, or damage will result to the movant before the adverse party can be heard in 

opposition.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(1)(A). Second, the movant’s attorney must “certify in writing 

any efforts made to give notice and the reasons why it should not be required.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

65(b)(1)(B).  

A temporary restraining order “is intended to preserve the status quo only until a 

preliminary injunction hearing can be held.” Hoechst Diafoil Co. v. Nan Ya Plastics Corp., 174 

F.3d 411, 422 (4th Cir. 1999); see also Granny Goose Foods, Inc. v. B’hood of Teamsters &

Auto Truck Drivers Local No. 70, 415 U.S. 423, 439 (1974) (explaining that ex parte temporary 

restraining orders under federal law “should be restricted to serving their underlying purpose of 

preserving the status quo and preventing irreparable harm just so long as is necessary to hold a 

hearing, and no longer”).  

As with a plaintiff seeking a preliminary injunction, a plaintiff seeking a temporary 

restraining order3 must establish (1) “that he is likely to succeed on the merits,” (2) “that he is 

likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief,” (3) “that the balance of 

3 “The standard for granting either a TRO or preliminary injunction is the same.” Toure v. 
Hott, 458 F. Supp. 3d 387, 396 (E.D. Va. 2020) (quoting Sansour v. Trump, 245 F. Supp. 3d 719, 
728 (E.D. Va. 2017)). 
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equities tips in his favor,” and (4) “that the injunction is in the public interest.” See Winter v. Nat. 

Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008). Moreover, “Winter made clear that each of these 

four factors must be satisfied to obtain preliminary injunctive relief.” Henderson ex rel. NLRB v. 

Bluefield Hosp. Co., 902 F.3d 432, 439 (4th Cir. 2018). Such relief constitutes an “extraordinary 

remedy” that is never awarded as of right. See Winter, 555 U.S. at 24. 

The AWA includes a provision setting forth statutory “authority to apply for injunctions.” 

7 U.S.C. § 2159. It states that, “[w]henever the Secretary has reason to believe that any dealer, 

carrier, exhibitor, or intermediary handler … is placing the health of any animal in serious 

danger in violation of this chapter of the regulations or standards promulgated thereunder, the 

Secretary shall notify the Attorney General.” Id. § 2159(a). The Attorney General then “may 

apply to the United States district court in which such dealer, carrier, exhibitor, or intermediate 

handler resides or conducts business for a temporary restraining order or injunction to prevent 

any such person from operating in violation of this chapter of the regulations and standards 

prescribed under this chapter.” Id. This provision further states that “[t]he court shall, upon a 

proper showing, issue a temporary restraining order or injunction under subsection (a) without 

bond.” Id. § 2159(b). 

Likelihood of Success on the Merits 

1. Failure to Provide Adequate Veterinary Care 

The Government contends that Envigo has consistently failed, despite repeated warnings 

and opportunities for correction, to meet its obligations under AWA’s implementing regulations 

to provide adequate veterinary care. See Dkt. 2-1 pp. 10–11. Based on the overwhelming 

evidence produced by the Government, the Court agrees.  
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The AWA has authorized the Secretary of Agriculture to “promulgate standards to 

govern the humane handling, care, treatment, and transportation of animals by dealers, research 

facilities, and exhibitors,” which include the “minimum requirements” for “adequate veterinary 

care,” among other things. 7 U.S.C. § 2143(a)(1)-(2)(A); see also 9 C.F.R. § 3.13 (“Veterinary 

care for dogs”); 9 C.F.R. § 2.40 (“Attending veterinarian and adequate veterinary care”). 

Programs of “adequate veterinary care” require “[d]aily observations of all animals to 

assess their health and well-being.” 9 C.F.R. § 2.40(b)(3). While that “daily observation” need 

not always be conducted by a licensed veterinarian, “a mechanism of direct and frequent 

communication is required so that timely and accurate information on problems of animal health, 

behavior, and well-being is conveyed to the attending veterinarian.” Id.4 The regulations also  

require that medical observation be followed-up with “an appropriate program of veterinary care 

for dogs that is developed, documented in writing, and signed by the attending veterinarian.” 9 

C.F.R. § 3.13(a). The program must include a yearly physical examination by a veterinarian,

vaccinations, treatment for parasites, and other preventative care; including “treatment to ensure 

healthy and unmatted hair coats, properly trimmed nails, and clean and healthy eyes, ears, skin, 

and teeth.” Id. The program of medical care must be appropriate to “prevent, control, diagnose, 

and treat diseases and injuries.” 9 C.F.R. § 2.40(b)(2). The Government has put forward evidence 

clearly showing that Envigo regularly failed, and continues to fail, to abide by those 

requirements; resulting in lasting and deteriorating serious health conditions that could have been 

rectified if observed and treated in a timely manner.  

4 Indeed, the regulations require “the availability of emergency, weekend, and holiday 
care.” 9 C.F.R. § 2.40(b)(3). 
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For instance, in July 2021, inspectors identified 15 beagles with medical problems that 

were not previously observed or treated by Envigo, including beagles that had eye and ear 

conditions, skin infections, wounds and lesions, and severe dental disease. Compl. ¶ 65; Dkt. 2-2 

pp. 1–5. One beagle was found with “patchy hair loss” covering over 70% of her body and 

yellow scabs. Dkt. 2-2 p. 2.  

During the November 2021 inspection, inspectors identified 30 beagles with severe 

dental disease that had not been treated despite having been observed by Envigo staff. Compl. 

¶ 57; Dkt. 2-5 p. 2. One nursing female was clearly emaciated. Dkt. 2-5 p. 2. Records showed 

that she had been underweight for three months, yet she had not received any medical attention. 

Id. Seven beagles had foot conditions, one beagle had an ear infection, and another had large 

patches of hair loss along its entire back. Dkt. 2-5 pp. 2–3. The inspectors found another 34 

beagles with medical conditions that had not been previously observed or treated by Envigo, 

including: seven beagles with severe dental disease; three beagles with weakness or lethargy; 

eight beagles and beagle puppies with traumatic wounds “to the legs, chest, abdomen, neck, ears 

and tails,” many of which appeared to have dried blood matting fur; eight beagles with lameness 

or foot medical conditions; six with eye conditions; two with ear conditions; three with skin 

conditions; and two with masses, including a beagle puppy with a “large, soft, fluid filled, 

swelling on the top of his head.” Dkt. 2-5 p. 3–4. Medical records also indicated several 

instances of beagles that had died from some ailment which would ordinarily be preceded by 

significant clinical signs—yet records did not indicate that any such observations were made. 

Compl. ¶¶ 69–70; e.g., Dkt. 2-5 p. 4 (necropsy for beagle stated she was diagnosed with a 

ruptured uterus, with no records of prior symptoms). To be clear, these are but a few examples of 
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the many failures in veterinary care documented in the APHIS inspections before the Court. See 

also Dkts. 2-2 – 2-6.   

Envigo’s level of veterinary care for its beagles has not improved since those earlier 

inspections. Veterinary exams ensuing from the May 18, 2022, search warrant determined that 

145 beagles were in “acute distress,” meaning that the beagles required “immediate veterinary 

treatment or other care to promptly alleviate a life-threatening illness/injury or any suffering.” 

Moffitt Decl. ¶ 8. The Court understands this number is likely to grow as the Government’s 

veterinarians continue to examine dogs throughout the weekend. Dkt. 2-1 p. 6. Even those 

beagles not currently in “acute distress” are suffering from significant and serious health 

conditions, including wounds that required wound care and antibiotics or anti-inflammatory 

medications,5 or swollen or enflamed paws,6 or had dental disease,7 or other health issues.8    

Many beagles and beagle puppies did not make it that far. Mortality records indicate that 

over 300 beagle puppies died between January and July of last year as a result of “unknown 

causes.” Dkt. 2-3 p. 1. Over 150 beagle puppies under 5 weeks of age, and 16 adult beagles, were 

found dead and medical records indicated their corpses had already begun to decompose and so 

no other cause of death could be identified. Id. 2.9 Despite these harrowing statistics, Envigo’s 

5 See, e.g., Dkt. 2-11 (veterinary records) ECF pp. 2, 3, 4, 6 (diagnosed with puncture 
wounds, scarring, “missing quarter sized part of ear”), 66. Other beagles suffered from reducible 
umbilical hernias requiring surgical correction. Id. 8, 37, 59, 60. 

6 See, e.g., Dkt. 2-11 ECF pp. 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 
27, 28, 29, et seq. 

7 See, e.g., Dkt. 2-11 ECF pp. 5, 8, 18, 22, 24, 25, 27, 74, 75, 76. 
8 See, e.g., Dkt. 2-11 ECF pp. 73 (abscess on head), 79 (“fecal impaction on all four feet, 

painful dental disease”), 47 ( “very thin,” recommending “monitor, improve nutrition”), 55 
(“very distended abdomen,” and recommending de-wormer), 56, 58, 61 (same). 

9 For instance, more recent medical records detail one particularly grisly, current similar 
instance. Dkt. 2-7 (necropsy report, reading: “unknown – pup eat[e]n – only has a head left”). 
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attending veterinarian apparently does not require Envigo staff to notify her when a puppy is 

found dead. Compl. ¶ 72; Dkt. 2-3 p.1. The Government maintains, and the Court agrees, that 

such a policy is inconsistent with Envigo’s obligation to utilize methods appropriate to the 

prevention of disease and injury. See Compl. ¶ 72. Those medical records which are present 

(even if incomplete) and other evidence submitted further demonstrate that Envigo was failing to 

attend to beagles’ wellbeing or provide them adequate veterinary care with respect to any 

injuries, illnesses, or serious health conditions which caused the deaths of these particular 

beagles and beagle puppies and further suggest Envigo’s failure to make efforts to learn from 

these (hundreds) of premature deaths to ensure other litters’ health and safety.  

The Government has alleged that Envigo instead used non-veterinarian employees both 

to provide medical care and to euthanize beagles. Compl. ¶¶ 60–61. Perhaps the most heinous 

discovery of the November 2021 inspection was that Envigo had allowed staff to euthanize dogs 

without anesthesia, in violation of the facility’s own program of care. Id. ¶ 62; Dkt. 2-5 p. 1 

(“Inspectors reviewed 171 medical records documenting euthanasia of 196 dogs and puppies and 

found that many young puppies are not receiving anesthesia prior to being euthanized via 

intracardiac injection as required by the SOP.”). The October 2021 inspection similarly showed 

that medical care, including medication for serious ailments, was provided by non-veterinary 

staff, even though this was a violation of Envigo’s program of medical care. Compl. ¶ 63; Dkt. 2-

4 p. 1. Records also showed that many beagles did not receive their annual physical at all. Dkt. 2-

5 pp. 20. 

Based on the foregoing evidence, the Court concludes that the Government is likely to 

succeed on the merits by showing that Envigo has failed to provide beagles at its Cumberland 

facility with adequate veterinary care, in violation of 9 C.F.R. §§ 3.13, 2.40, among others. 
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2. Failure to Provide Uncontaminated, Wholesome, Palatable Food of Sufficient Quantity 
and Nutritive Value and to Make Potable Water Continuously Available 
 
The Government’s evidence also displays a disturbing failure by Envigo to meet its 

obligation to provide each beagle with clean, palatable food of adequate quantity and nutritive 

value. See Dkt. 2-1 pp. 11–12. 

A. Food and Water Quality 

Minimum standards of nourishment are established by 9 C.F.R. § 3.9, which provides, in 

relevant part, that dogs must be fed, “at least once each day,” “uncontaminated, wholesome, 

palatable” food that is of “sufficient quantity and nutritive value.” Id. § 3.9(a). It also provides 

that food receptacles must be “located so as to minimize contamination by excreta and pests.” Id. 

§ 3.9(b). Water must be potable and water receptacles must be kept clean and sanitized according 

to prescribed standards. Id. § 3.10(a) & (c).  

The July 2021 inspectors discovered that nursing females were being denied food for 42-

hour periods—apparently in an effort to reduce milk production. Dkt. 2-2 p. 6. In lieu of the 

daily feeding required by § 3.9(a), food receptacles were placed in front of the mothers’ 

enclosures, so that they could see and smell the food but not eat it. Id. 7. See also id. (“Three 

dams were observed to be reaching their front paws through the doors of the cages to reach the 

food in the top of their feeders, these dogs were seen trying to scoop or dig out food from the 

feeders but could only retrieve the occasional piece of kibble.”). The reduced milk production 

resulting from this practice almost certainly meant that nursing puppies were not having their 

nutritional needs met either. See Compl. ¶¶ 80–81. 

When food was provided, it clearly fell short of the “uncontaminated, wholesome, [and] 

palatable” requirement. The July 2021 investigation found that the beagles’ food contained live 
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insects. Dkt. 2-3 pp. 11–12. See also id. 11 (recording inspectors’ observation of ants “going in 

and out of self feeders”).   

Envigo fared no better in the November 2021 inspection. Taking random samples of food 

contained in receptacles in two rooms, inspectors found in each instance that food was “wet, 

caked, and/or moldy.” Dkt. 2-5 p. 15. Two receptacles also contained “large numbers of 

maggots.” Id. Envigo was again directed to correct the issue. Id. Inspectors also noted that food 

receptacles were mounted in such a way that back-splashed water containing feces was mixed 

into the beagles’ food when staff pressure washed the enclosures. Id. 16. 

In March 2022, inspectors again found that “self-feeders at the facility are not being 

cleaned adequately and do not prevent molding, deterioration, and caking of feed.” Dkt. 2-6 p. 6. 

B. Food and Water Access

Respecting access to food and water, the regulations provide that water must be 

continually available, 9 C.F.R. § 3.10(a), and that a dog’s food must be “readily accessible,” id. 

§ 3.9(b).

The July 2021 inspection nevertheless revealed that Envigo failed to make food 

receptacles available to all of the dogs in its facility. Dkt. 2-5 pp. 15–16. Between four to eleven 

animals were forced to share a single receptacle, which could be accessed by only one dog at a 

time. Id. 16. Despite being instructed to correct the issue, id., Government officials observed the 

same problem when executing the search warrant on May 18. Dkt. 2-10 ¶ 21 (“Taylor Decl.”). 

One investigator observed that each receptacle contained the same food, regardless of whether 

the enclosure housed adult dogs, nursing mothers, or young puppies. Id. ¶ 20. See also Moffitt 

Decl. ¶ 9 (noting that puppies and younger dogs have “food needs that are different from the 
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food needs of adult dogs”). The inspector also observed that many beagles, including puppies, 

could not access water spigots. Taylor Decl. ¶ 18. 

Based on the foregoing evidence, the Court concludes that the Government is likely to 

succeed on the merits by showing that Envigo has failed to provide beagles at its Cumberland 

facility the minimum standards for nourishment, in violation of 9 C.F.R. § 3.9, and continually 

available water and readily accessible food, in violation of § 3.9 and § 3.10(a). 

3. Failure to Maintain Minimum Handling & Housing Standards to Keep Dogs Safe 

The Government contends that Envigo is failing to meet the minimum standards for 

handling and housing the beagles in violation of the AWA, resulting in their suffering and death. 

Dkt. 2-1 p. 12. AWA regulations require that all animals be handled “as expeditiously and 

carefully as possible in a manner that does not cause trauma, overheating, excessive cooling, 

behavioral stress, physical harm, or unnecessary discomfort.” 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b)(1). “Physical 

abuse” and “deprivation of food or water” cannot be used to “train, work, or otherwise handle 

animals.” Id. § 2.131(b)(2)(i)-(ii). Any “short-term withholding of food or water” is only allowed 

“as long as each of the animals affected receives its full dietary and nutrition requirements each 

day.” Id. § 2.131(b)(2)(ii). Moreover, dogs that are “housed in the same primary enclosure must 

be compatible,” and “[a]ny dog … exhibiting a vicious or overly aggressive disposition must be 

housed separately[.]” 9 C.F.R. § 3.7. 

 The Government alleges and has offered evidence in support of the following facts. Due 

to overcrowding and incompatibility between dogs housed together, and due to inadequate 

protection from Envigo, beagles at the Cumberland facility have repeatedly injured one another 

and suffered injury, disease, and death due to exposure to the environment. Dkt. 2-1 p. 12. 

Records show that 48 beagles at the facility were found with fight wounds between January and 
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July 2021, and that three dogs died from fight wounds. Dkt. 2-3 p. 8. APHIS inspectors 

instructed Envigo to ensure that there was a mechanism in place to protect the dogs from one 

another, but when inspectors returned to the facility in October 2021, they found more dogs with 

serious fight injuries. Dkt. 2-4 p. 9. Envigo staff had failed to notice the fight wounds. Id. Also in 

October 2021, a female beagle was found dead with evidence that her littermates had chewed on 

her; the mortality log attributed her death to evisceration. Id. p. 10. When APHIS investigators 

asked to talk to the employee who found the dead dog, they were told that the employee was 

unavailable. Id. 

 During a November 2021 inspection, APHIS inspectors noted continued aggression 

between the dogs, and the inspection had to be repeatedly stopped temporarily for fighting 

beagles to be separated. Dkt. 2-5 p. 14. Inspectors observed more of the same in March 2022. See 

Dkt. 2-6. 

 In addition to compatibility issues, APHIS inspectors found that Envigo had failed to 

provide the minimum amount of space needed to house 742 beagles and weaned puppies. See 

Dkt. 2-5 pp. 13–14. Inspectors observed beagles fighting over limited food. Id. pp. 15–16.  

 The records also show that Envigo has failed to keep beagle puppies safe by allowing 

them to become wet when Envigo staff hosed down their enclosures with water. Id. p. 7. In 

November 2021, inspectors found 21 puppies damp and shivering in building G3. Id. Three days 

later, inspectors found additional damp and cold puppies in building G3. Id. Envigo records 

show that in the eight weeks before the November 2021 inspection, 25 puppies had been found 

dead in building G3 with a cause of death attributable to cold exposure. Id. 

The Government offers additional evidence arising from the execution of the search 

warrant in May 2022. Federal investigators observed “widespread fighting” between beagles 
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sharing food sources in the same cages. Taylor Decl. ¶¶ 15–16. Investigators also observed 

beagles fighting between adjacent cages; they observed “beagles stand[ing] on their hind legs to 

physically attack beagles located in adjacent enclosures through openings in the partition 

between the enclosures.” Id. ¶ 16. Investigators noted inadequate partitions between the 

enclosures to prevent such fighting. Id. 

Based on the foregoing evidence, the Court concludes that the Government is likely to 

succeed on the merits by showing that Envigo has failed to keep beagles at its Cumberland 

facility safe and is in violation of 9 C.F.R. § 2.131(b) and § 3.7. 

4. Failure to Provide Safe and Sanitary Conditions

The Government’s evidence also shows that Envigo has failed to fulfill its obligation to

provide safe and sanitary living conditions for the beagles it houses. 

A. Cleaning, Sanitation, and Pest Control

Minimum sanitation requirements are set forth in 9 C.F.R. § 3.11. Beginning with an 

animal’s primary enclosure, the regulations provide that feces and food waste must be removed 

from the interior of enclosures daily, and from beneath enclosures as often as necessary to 

prevent soiling the dogs inside and to reduce risk of disease, attracting pests and insects, and 

creating odor. Id. § 3.11(a).  

Used enclosures, as well as food and water receptacles, must be sanitized at least once 

every 2 weeks using prescribed methods. Id. § 3.11(b)(2). Surrounding buildings and grounds 

must be in good repair and free of trash and junk to protect dogs from injury. Id. § 3.11(c). And 

facilities must establish and maintain an effective program of pest control. Id. § 3.11(d).  

In July 2021, inspectors observed a buildup of “brown organic material” inside 

enclosures housing nursing beagles and their puppies. Dkt. 2-3 p. 10. The facilities manager 
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admitted to inspectors that enclosures are disinfected only between liters or every six weeks. Id. 

Inspectors also noted that “[a]round the entire facility are large populations [of] live insects 

including house flies, drain flies, water bugs, cockroaches, and spiders with cobwebs.” Id. 9. 

Despite being directed to correct these issues, id. 9, 12, the October 2021 inspection revealed 

“accumulations of waste and an overpowering fecal odor” emanating from beneath a large 

percentage of enclosures, Dkt. 2-4 p. 11. The November 2021 inspection likewise found that 

Envigo had failed to clean waste under the beagles’ enclosures with sufficient frequency to 

prevent accumulation of filth. Dkt. 2-5 p. 16. In some instances, moldy food and excreta was 

allowed to pile several inches high. Id. Predictably, the inspectors also observed infestations of 

insects, including large numbers of flies and maggots, in and around enclosures and in food 

receptacles. Id. 17. When investigators returned to execute the May 18, 2022, warrant, they 

observed bugs “present in many of the enclosures in this building.” Taylor Decl. ¶ 8. They also 

observed mold and buildup of old food around the feeder. Id. ¶ 19. 

B. Primary Enclosure Design Requirements

Envigo also had an obligation to construct its primary enclosures in such a way as to 

safely contain the beagles and protect them from other animals. 9 C.F.R. § 3.6(a)(2). Specific 

requirements include floors that protect dogs’ feet and legs—e.g., floors that “do not allow the 

dogs’ … feet to pass through any openings in the floor.” Id. § 3.6(a)(2)(x). Each primary 

enclosure must also provide a “minimum amount of floor space” in accordance with a statutory 

formula. Id. § 3.6(c)(1)(i). Additional floor space must be provided for a mother with nursing 

puppies. Id. § 3.6(c)(1)(ii). 

As previously mentioned, Envigo’s enclosures contain gaps that allow beagles to attack 

one another from adjacent enclosures. The July 2021 inspection showed that 71 beagles were 
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harmed in this way. Dkt. 2-3 at p. 7. Despite instruction to address this problem, id. 8, mortality 

records10 reviewed during the next inspection revealed that nine beagles were injured in the same 

manner between August 2021 and October 2021, Dkt. 2-4 p. 8. When inspectors returned in 

November 2021, they again noted “numerous examples of body parts being pulled into adjacent 

enclosures by neighboring dogs causing injuries to the dogs involved.” Dkt. 2-5 p. 12. Envigo 

was once again directed to address the issue. Id. But in March 2022, inspectors found major gabs 

in the fencing, including at least one that would have permitted beagles to pass easily between 

enclosures. Dkt. 2-6 p. 3.  

The enclosures were also unsafe for occupants, and especially for puppies. July 2021 

inspectors observed over 200 puppies housed in enclosures with gaps in the flooring that were 

large enough for the puppies’ feet to fall through up to their shoulders. Dkt. 2-2 pp. 9–10. 

Inspectors observed one adult beagle with her front left paw caught in the flooring. Id. 10. 

Employees could not say how long the dog had been trapped. Id. Despite being directed to 

correct the issue, id., inspectors observed the same problem during the October 2021 inspection. 

During the November 2021 inspection, inspectors determined that approximately 75% of 

enclosures had gaps as much as two inches wide between the flooring and fencing of enclosures, 

along with other issues.11 Dkt. 2-5 pp. 7–8. Inspectors observed six beagles actively stuck in the 

flooring. Id. 12. Upon their return in March 2022, inspectors found 130 enclosures with gaps 

large enough for a beagles’ foot or leg to pass through. Dkt. 2-6 p. 3. They also observed two 

10 Envigo appears to have had a practice of euthanizing beagles that sustained even a 
minor injury. Compl. ¶¶ 75–77; Dkt. 2-3 p. 6; Hollingsworth Decl. ¶ 5.   

11 See Dkt. 2-5 p. 9 (“noting that in some enclosures, “the floors bounce up and down, 
shift, tilt, or sink under the weight of the dogs as they move about the enclosure.”).  
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beagles stuck in the flooring, and medical records indicated that at least 12 additional dogs had 

been injured in the same way since the last inspection. Id. 4.  

Investigators executing the May 18, 2022, search warrant found one “beagle with its jaw 

stuck within” the welded bars used for the enclosure walls. Taylor Decl. ¶ 10. They observed 

“widespread problems with the flooring in the enclosures,” including several which moved up 

and down with the animals. Id. ¶ 11. Investigators also “repeatedly observed” beagles who were 

trapped in the flooring of their enclosures. Id. ¶ 12.  

Envigo fairs no better with respect to floor space. In July 2021, inspectors observed 62 

nursing mother beagles with a total of 393 puppies that were not provided the minimum required 

floor space. Dkt. 2-2 p. 11. And in November 2021, inspectors concluded that 742 beagles and 

weaned puppies lacked the minimum required space. Dkt. 2-5 pp. 13–14. 

Based on the foregoing evidence, the Court concludes that the Government is likely to 

succeed on the merits by showing that Envigo has failed to provide beagles at its Cumberland 

facility safe and sanitary living conditions and safely designed enclosures, in violation of 9 

C.F.R. § 3.11 and § 3.6. 

Irreparable Harm 

 To secure a preliminary injunction or temporary restraining order, the movant must 

further establish that “he is likely to suffer irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief.” 

Winter, 555 U.S. at 20.12 Irreparable harm is that which is “actual and imminent,” not “remote or 

 
12 The Court notes that some courts have held that because the AWA provides for a TRO 

or injunction upon satisfaction of the statutory standard, the traditional, four-part showing for an 
injunction including irreparable harm need not be satisfied. See United States v. Gingerich, No. 
4:21-cv-283, 2021 WL 6144690, at *2 (S.D. Iowa Sept. 28, 2021). The Court has determined 
that the Government has satisfied the AWA’s statutory requirements for injunctive relief, see 7 
U.S.C. § 2159, as well as the four-part test, so the Court need not consider whether a temporary 
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speculative.” Direx Israel, Ltd. v. Breakthrough Med. Corp., 952 F.2d 802, 812 (4th Cir. 1991) 

(internal quotation marks omitted). “Generally, irreparable harm is suffered when monetary 

damages are difficult to ascertain or are inadequate.” Multi-Channel TV Cable Co.  v. 

Charlottesville Quality Cable Operating Co., 22 F.3d 546, 551 (4th Cir. 1994) (internal 

quotation marks omitted); Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co. v. Coreth, 535 F. Supp. 3d 488, 517 

(E.D. Va. 2021) (quoting Update, Inc. v. Samilow, 311 F. Supp. 3d 784, 796 (E.D. Va. 2018)) 

(same). However, the “possibility that adequate compensatory or other corrective relief will be 

available at a later date … weighs heavily against a claim of irreparable harm.” Di Biase v. SPX 

Corp., 872 F.3d 224, 230 (4th Cir. 2017). Rule 65(b) further states that a temporary restraining 

order without notice may only issue if the movant sets forth “specific facts in an affidavit or a 

verified complaint” that “clearly show that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage 

will result to the movant before the adverse party can be heard in opposition.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

65(b)(1)(A). 

 The Court concludes that the Government has put forward a clear showing of irreparable 

harm if the temporary restraining order did not issue, and clearly shown with specific facts in 

affidavits (and other supporting evidence) that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage 

will result to the movant before the adverse party can be heard in opposition. See Winter, 555 

U.S. at 20; see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(1)(A). The AWA authorizes an application for 

injunctive relief when the Secretary “has reason to believe that any dealer, carrier, exhibitor, or 

intermediate handler … is placing the health of any animal in serious danger in violation of this 

chapter” and its implementing regulations, 7 U.S.C. § 2159(a), and further states that “[t]he court 

 
restraining order or injunction might in some other case issue absent irreparable harm. See Lowe, 
2021 WL 149838, at *13–14.   
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shall, upon a proper showing, issue a temporary restraining order or injunction under subsection 

(a) without bond,” id. § 2159(b).

As described above, the Court finds the Government has clearly demonstrated that 

irreparable harm will result absent injunctive relief. Specifically, Envigo has been operating and 

continues to operate in a manner that flagrantly disregards numerous health protocols, placing 

the health of animals in serious danger and risk of death. See 7 U.S.C. § 2159. USDA inspection 

records documented dozens of instances in which dogs were euthanized rather than provided 

medical care when they had an injury, no matter how substantial or minor. E.g., Dkt. 2-3 p. 6; 

Hollingsworth Decl. ¶ 5.  

Indeed, while USDA agents and other law enforcement officers have seized 145 of 

beagles at the Cumberland facility that were at the most acute and immediate risk to their health, 

Moffitt Decl. ¶ 8, many more beagles still face inadequate food and water, veterinary care, and 

the other torturous conditions described, Hollingsworth Decl. ¶ 6. The grave health risks to the 

beagles remaining in Envigo’s care remain—they are immediate and substantial. In fact, as 

recently as May 18, 2022, USDA’s teams conducting field-exams at the Cumberland facility 

found “two deceased puppies found in enclosures with their respective nursing mothers and 

littermates.” Moffitt Decl. ¶ 7. An investigator found one beagle with its “jaw stuck within the 

welded bars” of its enclosure, id. ¶ 10; and had to assist six different beagles whose feet had 

gotten stuck in the flooring, id. ¶ 12. In multiple enclosures, puppies were unable to access the 

spigots to get water on their own, and when the investigator “held down the spigot to release 

water,” the puppies “immediately rushed to the spigot to get water, and drank heavily and 

quickly.” Id. ¶ 18. Simply put, the Court will not be able to unwind or in any way remedy the 
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physical harm done to these dogs at the end of this case if the Court does not grant the requested 

immediate relief. 

The Court finds irreparable harm clearly shown and the AWA’s statutory provisions 

authorizing injunctive relief satisfied. See, e.g., Lowe, 2021 WL 149838, at *14 (explaining that 

“the health and safety of the animals remaining in Defendants[’] care continues to be at risk of 

irreparable harm absent injunctive relief”). 

Balance of Equities and Public Interest 

The last two Winter factors are whether the balance of the equities tips in the plaintiff’s 

favor, and the public interest is furthered by issuing the temporary restraining order. See Winter, 

555 U.S. at 20. The Court concludes that each factor supports issuing the temporary restraining 

order against Envigo.  

Turning first to the balance of the equities (or hardships), the Court does not discount that 

hiring sufficient staff, providing suitable enclosures and adequate veterinary care would impose 

costs on Envigo. It very well could be difficult to find and afford sufficient staff. However, any 

expense required to fulfill those obligations was voluntary taken by Envigo when it applied for 

and received a license by the USDA to raise animals intended for research facilities, namely that 

it would comply with the AWA and applicable regulations. For its part, the Government has a 

strong interest in ensuring compliance with federal law and regulations to safeguard humane 

treatment of animals, as well as to ensure the efficacy of USDA’s inspection and licensing 

regime. In addition, as the Government argues, “it is always in the public interest for citizens to 

follow the law and not financially profit from their law-breaking endeavors.” Dkt. 2-1 p. 16. 

Especially considering the tailored nature of the relief sought by the Government, the Court 

concludes that any incremental added expense or other hardship faced by Envigo as necessary to 
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comply with governing regulations is significantly outweighed by the equities that weigh in the 

Government’s favor. 

The Court concludes that the public interest would be supported by issuing the temporary 

restraining order. See Winter, 555 U.S. at 20. The public interest “may be declared in the form of 

a statute,” and “[a] federal statute prohibiting the threatened acts that are the subject matter of the 

litigation has been considered a strong factor in favor of granting a preliminary injunction.” 

Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, 11A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2948.4 (3d ed.). Here, 

issuing the temporary restraining order would give effect to Congress’s purpose in enacting the 

AWA, to ensure that “animals intended for use in research facilities … are provided humane care 

and treatment.” 7 U.S.C. § 2131(1); PETA, 861 F.3d at 508 (“Congress passed the AWA in 1966 

to regulate the research, exhibition, and sale of animals, as well as to assure their humane 

treatment.”). Moreover, the Court agrees that injunctive relief is further supported against a 

regulated entity when a regulatory agency has issued it repeated warnings of its non-compliance, 

which have been ignored or insufficiently remedied. See Dkt. 2-1 p. 16. 

Lastly, in addition to the Government’s clear demonstration that all of the Winter factors 

weigh in support of the Court issuing a temporary restraining order, and further that the statutory 

requirements of the AWA have been satisfied for imposition of injunctive relief, the Court also 

finds that the Government has also satisfied Rule 65(b)(1)’s requirements for issuing a temporary 

restraining order without notice. As described above, the Government has provided “specific 

facts” in affidavits and other evidence that “clearly show that immediate and irreparable injury, 

loss, or damage will result to the movant before the adverse party could be heard in opposition.” 

See id.; see supra, Irreparable Harm. The Court further credits and finds persuasive the reasons  

cited by the Government attorney for why prior notice to Envigo should not be required before 
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the Court issues the temporary restraining order, noting particularly Envigo’s repeated non-

compliance with inspectors’ violation reports and with the AWA, as well as the substantial, 

documented risk of irreparable harm in the absence of prompt injunctive relief. See Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 65(b)(1)(B); Hollingsworth Decl. ¶¶ 6–8. Moreover, the record is replete with instances of

Envigo’s failure to comply with AWA’s documentation and recordkeeping requirements, and 

harm or injury to beagles that is severe and ongoing, not properly documented. Hollingsworth 

Decl. ¶ 7 (and supporting documents). The Court finds that prior notice and the resulting delay 

before the Court imposes the tailored, interim measures requested by the Government, would 

risk jeopardizing the ability to effectively enforce the AWA and protect the health of the beagles 

still in Envigo’s care.  

Conclusion 

For the reasons discussed above, the Court has concluded that the Government has made 

a clear showing that the requested ex parte temporary restraining order should issue. Therefore, 

the Government’s motion for a temporary restraining order will be and hereby is GRANTED. 

See Dkt. 2. Defendant Envigo and its agents, servants, employees, and anyone who works in 

active concert with Envigo shall be ORDERED to comply with the following: 

I. Within twenty-four (24) hours of this Order, Envigo is ORDERED to

1. Comply with the requirement in 9 C.F.R. § 3.7 that only compatible dogs are
housed together in an enclosure.

II. Within forty-eight (48) hours of this Order, Envigo is ORDERED to

2. Provide to counsel for the United States the name and contact information for the
attending veterinarian at the Cumberland Facility and a program of veterinary
care that complies with 9 C.F.R. § 3.13.

3. Ensure that every puppy who is no longer housed in the same enclosure with their
nursing mother is provided access to potable water from a water receptacle that
the puppy can easily drink from without any assistance.

Case 6:22-cv-00028-NKM   Document 3   Filed 05/21/22   Page 22 of 25   Pageid#: 371



23 
 

4. Ensure that every beagle is provided uncontaminated, wholesome, palatable food 
of sufficient quantity and nutritive value to maintain the normal condition and 
weight of the animal. The diet must be appropriate for the individual animal’s age 
and condition. Envigo must feed each beagle at least once a day.  Envigo must 
seek consent of counsel for the United States or, if counsel does not consent, a 
court order to feed any animal less than once a day.  See 9 C.F.R. § 3.9. 
 

III. Within seven (7) days of this Order, Envigo is ORDERED to 

5. Provide to counsel for the United States an inventory of every dog and puppy at 
the Cumberland Facility. The inventory must list each beagle individually with its 
sex, age, unique identification number, and enclosure location and number.  

 

IV. Within fourteen (14) days of this Order, Envigo is ORDERED to 
 

6. Add to each enclosure enough food receptacles so that every weaned puppy and 
dog in the enclosure can access food at the same time. See 9 C.F.R. § 3.9(b). 

 
7. Comply with the requirement for flooring provided in 9 C.F.R. § 3.6(a)(2)(x).  

 
8. Install solid partitions between all adjacent enclosures. See 9 C.F.R. § 3.1(a). 

  
 

V. Envigo is further ORDERED to 

9. Provide veterinary treatment by a licensed veterinarian, within ten (10) days of 
receiving field examination forms from the United States, in accordance with the 
recommendations set forth on the forms.  
 

10. Provide to counsel for the United States medical records for any veterinary care 
provided to any dog or puppy at the Cumberland Facility within seventy-two (72) 
hours of the animal receiving care or treatment. All medical records must comply 
with 9 C.F.R. § 3.13(b), and must include: 

 
a. the unique identification number, identifying marks, sex, and age of the 

dog; 
b. if a problem is identified (such as a disease, injury, or illness), the date and 

a description of the problem, examination findings, test results, plan for 
treatment and care, and treatment procedures performed, when 
appropriate; 

c. the names of all vaccines and treatments administered and the dates of 
administration; 
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d. the dates and findings/results of all screening, routine, or other required or 
recommended test or examination. 

 
11. Provide notice to counsel for the United States within seventy-two (72) hours of 

any dog or puppy found having injuries attributable to or consistent with a fight, 
as well as wounds of an unknown cause, including lacerations to ears and tail 
injuries. 
 

12. Have a licensed veterinarian document the death of any dog or puppy and timely 
perform a necropsy.  

 
13. Provide notice and a copy of the necropsy report to counsel for the United States 

within seventy-two (72) hours of receiving the necropsy report from the 
veterinarian.  

 
14. Immediately cease disposing of any beagle at the Cumberland Facility by 

transferring from the Cumberland Facility or euthanizing any beagle at the 
Cumberland Facility without the consent of counsel for the United States or, if 
they do not consent, a court order. Any euthanasia must be performed by a 
licensed veterinarian or a licensed veterinary technician who is acting under the 
direct supervision of a licensed veterinarian. 

 
15. Immediately cease breeding, selling, or otherwise dealing in beagles at the 

Cumberland Facility, until in full compliance with this order. 
 

16. Provide notice to counsel for the United States within seventy-two (72) hours of 
the birth of any puppies, including the number of puppies born, the unique 
identification number of the dam, and the sex and unique identification numbers 
assigned to the puppies. 

 
17. Permit unencumbered access to the Cumberland Facility by the United States, its 

agents and any contractor assisting the United States to check for compliance with 
this Order. 
 

 This Order shall be in effect for fourteen (14) days from the date of its issuance. Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 65(b)(2). No bond shall be required. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c); 7 U.S.C. § 2159(b). 

It is further ORDERED that counsel for the United States shall serve a copy of this 

Order on Envigo forthwith. 
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The Clerk of the Court is directed to schedule a hearing on this temporary restraining 

order, as well as any motion thereon or other request for preliminary injunctive relief, on or 

about ten (10) days from the issuance of this Order. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b)(3).  

It is so ORDERED. 

The Clerk of Court is directed to send a copy of this order to all counsel of record. 

Entered this ____ day of May, 2022, at _________ a.m. 21st 11:50
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